

National Environmental Science Programme

An eco-narrative of Geographe Marine Park – South-west marine region

Marine Park Eco-narrative Series

Ronen Galaiduk, Rachel Nanson, Zhi Huang, Scott Nichol, Karen Miller

Project D1 – National data collation, synthesis and visualisation to support sustainable use, management and monitoring of marine assets

3 August 2018

Milestone 14 - Research Plan v4 (2018) Final report on ecologically important features of selected Australian Marine Parks









Australian Government

Geoscience Australia

www.nespmarine.edu.au

Enquiries should be addressed to:

Karen Miller Australian Institute of Marine Science Indian Ocean Marine Research Centre Crawley WA 6009 k.miller@aims.gov.au Scott Nichol Geoscience Australia PO Box 378 Symonston, ACT, 2601 scott.nichol@ga.gov.au

Project Leader's Distribution List

Amanda Richley	Parks Australia	
Bianca Priest	Department of the Environment & Energy	
Jennifer Hoy		
John Lloyd		
Cath Samson		
Jason Mundy		
Amelia Tandy	Marine Policy	
Jillian Grayson	Department of the Environment & Energy	
Christine Lamont	National Offshore Petroleum Safety and Environmental	
	Management Authority	

Preferred Citation

Galaiduk, R., Nanson, R., Huang, Z., Nichol, S., Miller, K. (2018). An eco-narrative of Geographe Marine Park: South-west marine region. Report to the National Environmental Science Programme, Marine Biodiversity Hub. *Geoscience Australia.*

Copyright

This report is licensed by the University of Tasmania for use under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Australia Licence. For licence conditions, see <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>

Acknowledgement

This work was undertaken for the Marine Biodiversity Hub, a collaborative partnership supported through funding from the Australian Government's National Environmental Science Programme (NESP). NESP Marine Biodiversity Hub partners include the University of Tasmania; CSIRO, Geoscience Australia, Australian Institute of Marine Science, Museum Victoria, Charles Darwin University, the University of Western Australia, Integrated Marine Observing System, NSW Office of Environment and Heritage, NSW Department of Primary Industries. Geoscience Australia acknowledges the Schmidt Ocean Institute for acquisition of bathymetry data used to produce the bathymetry collation presented in this report.

Important Disclaimer

The NESP Marine Biodiversity Hub advises that the information contained in this publication comprises general statements based on scientific research. The reader is advised and needs to be aware that such information may be incomplete or unable to be used in any specific situation. No reliance or actions must therefore be made on that information without seeking prior expert professional, scientific and technical advice. To the extent permitted by law, the NESP Marine Biodiversity Hub (including its host organisation, employees, partners and consultants) excludes all liability to any person for any consequences, including but not limited to all losses, damages, costs, expenses and any other compensation, arising directly or indirectly from using this publication (in part or in whole) and any information or material contained in it.



Contents

Exec	utive	Summa	ary	1		
1.	Introduction2					
2.	Physical setting4					
3.	Oceanography5					
4.	Geor	eomorphology and potential habitats10				
5.	. The ecological significance of Geographe Marine Park			12		
	5.1	Pelagic	fauna	14		
		5.1.1	Cetaceans			
		5.1.2	Seabirds			
		5.1.3	Sea turtles			
		5.1.4	Fishes and sharks			
	5.2	.2 Benthic fauna		17		
REFE	REN	CES				
Appe	ndix	Α				



List of Figures

Figure 1: Map and bathymetry (5 m grid) of Geographe Bay with the yellow outline indicating the Geographe Marine Park boundary and internal zoning of the park. The coastal waters of Geographe Bay are part of Ngari Capes Marine Park which is overseen by the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions of Western Australia
Figure 2: Mean SST for January, derived from MODIS satellite imagery between 2003 and 2016. The locations of the southward-flowing Leeuwin Current and the seasonal (summer) Capes Current are indicated
Figure 3: Mean annual chlorophyll- <i>a</i> concentrations over the Geographe Marine Park, derived from MODIS satellite imagery for the period 2002 to 2016. The long-term annual mean is 0.56 ± 0.19 mg/m ³ , ranging from $0.4 - 1.2$ mg/m ³ ; with winter and autumn levels typically twice those in summer and spring. This overall mean is the highest among the marine parks in the south-west region and at the higher end nationally
Figure 4: Sea Surface Temperature (SST) trends within Geographe Marine Park, showing: a) Annual average for 2003-2016 with standard deviation indicated by bars; the pink solid line indicates the linear warming trend; b) Warming rate (°C per year) for Geographe Marine Park and three other marine parks in the south-west region against the national mean for all marine parks; c) Monthly SST anomalies in the Geographe Marine Park during the 2011 marine heat wave event; d) SST anomaly map for the marine heatwave of February 2011.
Figure 5: The surveyed portion of Geographe Marine Park has predominantly low gradient seafloor (<i>Plane</i> : 99.6%), with moderate gradient <i>Slope</i> (0.4%) Morphological Surfaces highlighting the rocky ridges marking ancient coastlines aligned subparallel with the modern shoreline. There are no steep (Escarpment) Morphological Surfaces
Figure 6: Linear reefs are found in Geographe Bay and in the western part of National Park zone (a-c) which have a significant influence on occurrence and abundance of associated fish species such as endemic Western King wrasse (<i>Coris auricularis</i> ; d)- top-right side) and Maori wrasse (<i>Ophtalmolepis lineolatus</i> ; d)- left side of the image). Images courtesy of Fish Ecology Lab at Curtin University.
Figure 7: Seagrass meadows of <i>Amphibolis antarctica</i> (a) and <i>Posidonia australis</i> (b) could be found across Geographe Bay and the Geographe Marine Park extending to depths of up to 50 m, making this region second only to Shark Bay for seagrass extent. Hard substrates are often covered with various species of macroalgae such as Sargassum spp. (c) or <i>Scaberia agardhii</i> (d). Images courtesy of R. Galaiduk and the Fish Ecology Lab at Curtin University
 Figure 8: Examples of fauna commonly observed in and around Geographe Marine Park. (a) Loggerhead turtle (<i>Caretta caretta</i>); (b) Rough bullseye (<i>Pempheris klunzingeri</i>); (c) a school of trevallies from <i>Pseudocaranx</i> genus; (d) an endemic Horseshoe leatherjacket (<i>Meuschenia</i> <i>hippocrepis</i>, front) and a school of endemic Footballer Sweeps (<i>Neatypus obliquus</i>-background); (e) Australian bull ray (<i>Myliobatis australis</i>, front) and iconic Australasian snapper (<i>Chrysophrys</i> <i>auratus</i>, left); (f) iconic West Australian Dhufish (<i>Glaucosoma hebraicum</i>). Images courtesy of the Fish Ecology Lab at Curtin University.
 Figure 9: Examples of sharks, rays and other mobile fauna that have been observed within and near the Geographe Marine Park: (a) Tiger shark (<i>Galeocerdo cuvier</i>); (b) Mako shark (<i>Isurus oxyrinchus</i>); (c) Smooth hammerhead (<i>Sphyrna zygaena</i>); (d) Short-tail stingray (<i>Dasyatis brevicaudata</i>); (e) Southern fiddler ray (<i>Trygonorrhina dumerilii</i>, front) and Shovelnose ray (<i>Aptychotrema vincentiana,</i> back); (f) Circular Stingaree (<i>Urolophus circularis</i>); (g) Squid (<i>Loligo</i> spp.); (h) Curious cuttlefish pair (<i>Sepia</i> spp.); (i) Octopus (right) meets fiddler ray. Images courtesy of the Fish Ecology Lab at Curtin University.



List of Tables



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report is one in a series of eco-narrative documents that synthesise our existing knowledge of Australia's individual Marine Parks. This series is a product of the National Environmental Science Program Marine Biodiversity Hub Project D1, which seeks to collate, synthesise and visualise biophysical data within the parks. These documents are intended to enable managers and practitioners to rapidly ascertain the ecological characteristics of each park, and to highlight knowledge gaps for future research focus.

Geographe Marine Park contains areas of high biodiversity and benthic productivity, although much of the Marine Park has not been surveyed. The Park contains some of the largest continuous seagrass meadows in Australia. These act as feeding, breeding, resting and nursery grounds for migratory and threatened seabirds, whales and numerous fish species. Because seagrass communities are particularly susceptible to changes in water quality, they are under constant threat from a range of potential stressors. These include an increase in human population on the adjacent coastline, high levels of regional nutrient flow from runoff, growth in tourism, recreational and commercial fishing, introduced marine pests, and global climate change. While our existing knowledge of these threats is insufficient to detect the full extent of current impacts or to predict future ones, an overall loss in the shallow water seagrass cover from 2004 and 2007 has occurred. The information in this eco-narrative collates all the existing information to form an initial characterisation of Geographe Marine Park to help better understand its ecosystem structure. However, most of our knowledge of ecosystems in the marine park are those based on seagrass. We know very little about other ecosystems, particularly deeper offshore habitats which represent approximately 50% of the marine park.



1. INTRODUCTION

The Geographe Marine Park is a part of the south-west network of Australian Marine Parks. It is located within and adjacent to Geographe Bay which is approximately 200 km south of Perth. Geographe Marine Park covers 977 km² and ranges in depth from 15 m to 70 m (Beeton et al., 2015). Activities in the Geographe Marine Park are regulated by four types of zones: Marine National Park Zone (IUCN Category II – 36 km²), Special Purpose Zone (IUCN Category VI – 650 km²), Habitat Protection Zone (IUCN Category IV) and Multiple Use Zone (IUCN Category VI - 291 km²; Figure 1).

Conservation values of the Geographe Marine Park include two Key Ecological Features (KEFs; <u>www.environment.gov.au</u>):

- 1. Commonwealth marine environment within and adjacent to Geographe Bay.
- 2. Western Rock Lobster.

These KEFs recognise the high benthic productivity and high biodiversity of a wide variety of fish and invertebrates that are supported partially or throughout their entire life history by the extensive seagrass meadows within Geographe Bay (Barnes et al. 2008), as well as the important habitat for western rock lobster (Chubb et al. 1989, MS Council 2012). The marine park also acts as feeding, resting, breeding and nursery area for a number of migratory and threatened seabirds, and is located within the migratory pathway of humpback and blue whales.

A combination of marine flora and fauna from the South-West and the Leeuwin-Naturalist bioregions is found in the Geographe Marine Park. South-West Australia is a recognized global hotspot of endemism for fish, corals, snails and lobsters (Roberts et al., 2002). Inshore from the Marine Park in Geographe Bay is the second most extensive seagrass meadow in Western Australia. This extends into the Geographe Marine Park to form one of the largest continuous seagrass beds recorded in Australia (Walker et al. 1987, Kirkman & Walker, 1989). These seagrass meadows extend further into the Geographe Marine Park than is the case for any other Commonwealth Marine Park (<u>http://www.environment.gov.au/topics/marine/marine-reserves/south-west/geographe</u>). This eco-narrative provides an overview of the current knowledge of the geomorphic, oceanographic and biological values within Geographe Marine Park.





Figure 1: Map and bathymetry (5 m grid) of Geographe Bay with the yellow outline indicating the Geographe Marine Park boundary and internal zoning of the park. The coastal waters of Geographe Bay are part of Ngari Capes Marine Park which is overseen by the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions of Western Australia.



2. PHYSICAL SETTING

The majority of the Geographe Marine Park seafloor is covered by a veneer of unconsolidated Holocene sediments deposited over shallow, eroded Pleistocene clay and limestone formations which dip gently seawards (Paul & Searle, 1978). These limestone formations tend to be long and narrow, creating bands of hard substrate surrounded by unconsolidated sediments. Inside the Marine National Park Zones, approximately 40% of the area is reef or mixed reef and sand, while in the combined Multiple Use and Special Use Zones approximately 20% of the sites fall into these categories, which are exposed at the surface in various positions throughout the bay (Lawrence et al., 2016). The number of small rocky reefs increases with distance from shore and depth (Barnes et al. 2008). Reefs are spread through the entire marine park with a concentration found in and around the eastern National Park Zone and the southern portion of the Multiple Use Zone (Figure 1 and 5).

Marine Biodiversity Hub

3. OCEANOGRAPHY

Geographe Marine Park is located inshore of the Leeuwin Current and thus is deprived of direct influence from this southward flowing warm waters (Figure 2). The weakened influence of the Leeuwin Current in this region limits the import of propagules and larvae into Geographe Bay from northern source populations. A fine-scale analysis of coastal waters in Geographe Bay (0-50 m) revealed areas of high larval retention potential (England et al., 2009) which could influence the recruitment, settlement and development rates of the local sessile assemblages (Smale, 2012). Instead, the park is affected by the Capes Current, a seasonal summer counter-current that flows northwards along the inner shelf from Cape Leeuwin to the north of Perth (Pearce & Pattiaratchi, 1999).



Figure 2: Mean SST for January, derived from MODIS satellite imagery between 2003 and 2016. The locations of the southward-flowing Leeuwin Current and the seasonal (summer) Capes Current are indicated.



In contrast to the warm Leeuwin Current, the Capes Current delivers cooler waters that are sourced from the base of the Leeuwin Current and driven by persistent and strong southerly winds during summer (Gersbach et al., 1999). Due to the oligotrophic nature of the Leeuwin Current, nutrient enrichment within the Capes Current is limited (Gersbach et al., 1999, Hanson et al., 2005). However, because of abundant light input during the summer months, this limited nutrient enrichment still raises primary production, leading to localised productivity hotspots in the shallow part of the Marine Park located in the euphotic zone (< 20 m depth) and on surface waters (Hanson et al., 2005). This enhanced productivity can be seen in the near coastal part of the maps of sea surface chlorophyll-a concentration derived from satellite imagery (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Mean annual chlorophyll-*a* concentrations over the Geographe Marine Park, derived from MODIS satellite imagery for the period 2002 to 2016. The long-term annual mean is 0.56 ± 0.19 mg/m³, ranging from 0.4 – 1.2 mg/m³; with winter and autumn levels typically twice those in summer and spring. This overall mean is the highest among the marine parks in the south-west region and at the higher end nationally



The overriding influence of the Capes Current on the pelagic communities of Geographe Marine Park is to facilitate the recruitment, movement, and feeding of some of the iconic commercial and non-commercial species of Western Australia. These include the West Australia salmon (*Arripis truttaceus*), western rock lobster (*Panulirus cyganus*), pilchard (*Sardinops sagax*), Australian herring (*Arripis georgianus*) and tailor (*Pomatomus saltatrix*) (Gersbach et al., 1999; Pearce & Pattiaratchi, 1999; Hanson et al., 2005; Pattiaratchi, 2007).

Rising sea surface temperatures across the Geographe Marine Park may periodically harm marine fauna and flora. Since 2002, sea surface temperatures within the marine park warmed at an annual rate of 0.06 °C, based on satellite remote sensing data (Figure 4a). This rate is higher than the overall average across all Australian marine parks (0.046 ± 0.02) $^{\circ}$ C) (Figure 4b). In addition, marine heat waves can also affect the marine park, such as the unprecedented event in 2011 (Figure 4a), which was forced by La Nina conditions (Feng et al., 2013; Pearce & Feng, 2013). The 2011 event produced an SST anomaly of > 1.5 °C that lasted about three months from February to April (Figure 4c&d). Fish kills and sightings of iconic species - such as whale sharks and manta rays - outside their normal range, were reported after the 2011 event (Pearce & Feng, 2013). In addition, heatwaves can represent a significant threat to seagrass meadows by potentially causing steep declines in shoot abundance of the important seagrass species (Marba & Duarte, 2010). Although the impact of the marine heatwave event on the health of the temperate communities in the marine park was not directly quantified (Smale & Wernberg, 2013, Wernberg et al., 2013), investigation into effects of rising sea surface temperatures and extreme climatic events on the marine communities of the region should be included in future studies, given that the frequency and intensity of heatwaves due to La Niña is predicted to double in the future (Cai, 2006).





Figure 4: Sea Surface Temperature (SST) trends within Geographe Marine Park, showing: a) Annual average for 2003-2016 with standard deviation indicated by bars; the pink solid line indicates the linear warming trend; b) Warming rate (°C per year) for Geographe Marine Park and three other marine parks in the south-west region against the national mean for all marine parks; c) Monthly SST anomalies in the Geographe Marine Park during the 2011 marine heat wave event; d) SST anomaly map for the marine heatwave of February 2011.

Geographe Bay is micro-tidal and experiences a predominantly diurnal fluctuation of up to to to 1.2 m. The daily tidal range varies biannually, however, with solstice tidal peaks occurring around December– January and June–July, producing a monthly tidal range that is about 20% higher than during equinoctial troughs during February–March and September–October (Fahrner & Pattiaratchi, 1994). Upwelling generally does not occur, and nutrient levels within the bay are largely dependent on terrestrial inputs (Lenanton et al., 1991).

South-west swells are refracted around Cape Naturaliste and arrive at different sections of the Western Australian coast with varying heights and angles. Geographe Bay is well protected from these swell waves by Cape Naturaliste, with gradually increasing exposure from south to north (Fahrner & Pattiaratchi, 1994). The swell waves typically have periods of 10 - 14 s while the wind waves are short-crested with periods of 5 - 10 s. Wave direction is strongly dependent on wind direction. Geographe Bay is well exposed to these waves during north-westerly winter storms or cyclonic events. Wind wave heights can become quite large during winter but are generally less than 1 m in summer (Fahrner & Pattiaratchi, 1994). The water column is well mixed with little stratification. Water temperature varies from 21.6 °C and 14.8 °C (McMahon et al., 1997) and salinity varies between 33.1 and 37.2 °/₀₀ (Water Corporation of Western Australia, 2003).



4. GEOMORPHOLOGY AND POTENTIAL HABITATS

Only 25% of the Geographe Marine Park is represented by high resolution (5 m grid) bathymetric data (<u>www.planning.wa.gov.au</u>; <u>http://matrix-</u>

prod.its.uwa.edu.au/marinefutures/research/project), and such data are restricted to the shallow portions of the park closest to the coast (Figure 1). The area covered by multibeam survey also has detailed habitat maps produced as part of the Marine Futures biodiversity survey (<u>http://matrix-prod.its.uwa.edu.au/marinefutures/research/mapping</u>).

A new seafloor mapping scheme (detailed in Appendix 1), designed to harness the predictive potential of detailed seafloor data, has been applied to the 5 m bathymetry dataset within the marine park. Across the mapped area, the seafloor divides into two slope categories that represent broad habitat settings (termed *Morphological Surfaces*): 99.6% is classed as low gradient *Plane* of < 2° and 0.4% as *Slope* of 2-10° (Figure 5).

These extensive low gradient (*Plane*), sandy substrates are colonised by seagrass beds, which extend into relatively deep waters of the park (up to 40–50 m) where sufficient light remains available for photosynthesis (Walker et al., 1987; Barnes et al., 2008). The linear reefs are interpreted as remnants of an ancient coastline (Paul & Searle, 1978). The steeper flanking *Slope* Morphological Surfaces provide hard, rocky substrates in the south-western region of the park that are suitable for colonisation by primarily *Sargassum* and *Ecklonia* (Lawrence et al., 2016). Morphological Surfaces can thus provide useful predictions of potential habitat, and more extensive bathymetric surveys will assist in understanding the extent of these habitat types within the park.





Figure 5: The surveyed portion of Geographe Marine Park has predominantly low gradient seafloor (*Plane*: 99.6%), with moderate gradient *Slope* (0.4%) Morphological Surfaces highlighting the rocky ridges marking ancient coastlines aligned subparallel with the modern shoreline. There are no steep (Escarpment) Morphological Surfaces.



5. THE ECOLOGICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF GEOGRAPHE MARINE PARK

High productivity, rich aggregations of marine life, and high levels of biodiversity and endemism of benthic and mobile marine fauna are found within the Geographe Marine Park (Barnes et al., 2008; Lawrence et al., 2016). The distribution of linear reefs (Figure 6a-c) is likely to have important ecological implications for fishes, invertebrates and algae in the surrounding seagrass meadows. For example, the abundances of fish species such as Maori wrasse (*Ophthalmolepis lineolatus*), western king wrasse (*Coris auricularis*), black-spotted parrotfish (*Austrolabrus maculatus*) and black-headed puller (*Pempheris klunzingeri*) were correlated with the presence of rocky reefs or proximity to the rocky reef edges associated with the Cape Naturaliste area adjacent to the marine park boundaries (Barnes et al., 2008; Galaiduk et al., 2017; Figure 6d).



Figure 6: Linear reefs are found in Geographe Bay and in the western part of National Park zone (a-c) which have a significant influence on occurrence and abundance of associated fish species such as endemic Western King wrasse (*Coris auricularis*; d)- top-right side) and Maori wrasse (*Ophtalmolepis lineolatus*; d)- left side of the image). Images courtesy of Fish Ecology Lab at Curtin University.



The nearshore sandy substrate of Geographe Bay is colonised by extensive seagrass beds, extending into relatively deep waters (up to 40–50 m) and into the Marine Park with almost half of recently surveyed sites within the Marine National Park Zone characterized by dense (> 50% cover) seagrass cover (Lawrence et al., 2016). *Amphibolis antarctica* and *Posidonia sinuosa* are the dominant seagrass species in the Geographe Marine Park (Figure 7a-b). Both of these seagrass species form continuous meadows at depths up to 35 m inside and outside the Marine Park, with patches of reef and another seagrass species, *Amphibolis griffithii*, increasing in occurrence with distance from shore and depth (Barnes et al., 2008). Macroalgae, primarily of the genera *Sargassum* and *Ecklonia*, was also found on hard, rocky substrates in the offshore regions of the bay, overlapping the south-western region of the Geographe Marine Park (Lawrence et al., 2016; Figure 7c-d).



Figure 7: Seagrass meadows of *Amphibolis antarctica* (a) and *Posidonia australis* (b) could be found across Geographe Bay and the Geographe Marine Park extending to depths of up to 50 m, making this region second only to Shark Bay for seagrass extent. Hard substrates are often covered with various species of macroalgae such as Sargassum spp. (c) or *Scaberia agardhii* (d). Images courtesy of R. Galaiduk and the Fish Ecology Lab at Curtin University.

There are a number of recognised threats to the local seagrass communities from the population growth and tourism which are predicted to result in reduced water quality due to inputs of nutrients from residential and agricultural areas (Barnes et al. 2008). These run-offs can cause excessive growth of epiphytic algae and shading of seagrass leaves (Kendrick et al. 2002). Rising seawater temperatures, frequent heatwaves and changing water chemistry due to climate change are also suggested stressors for the seagrasses in Geographe Bay

National Environmental Science Programme



An eco-narrative of Geographe Marine Park

(Barnes et al., 2008; Wernberg et al., 2013). A previous report that mapped the change in seagrass cover in the shallow waters of Geographe Bay documented a loss of approximately 768 ha of seagrass cover between 2004 – 2007 (Van Niel et al., 2009). It is not clear, however, what proportion of documented canopy loss can be attributed to the aforementioned factors.

5.1 Pelagic fauna

5.1.1 Cetaceans

Geographe Bay is an important seasonal migratory habitat for the protected humpback (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) and pygmy blue whales (*Balaenoptera musculus brevicauda*; Salgado Kent et al., 2011). The high prevalence of acoustic noise from vessel traffic in this region could affect the capacity of the migrating whales to communicate with each other and perceive important cues in their environment (Salgado Kent et al., 2012).

5.1.2 Seabirds

Despite numerous species occurring in globally significant breeding colonies throughout the continental islands of southwestern Australia (Dunlop & Wooller, 1990; Surman & Wooller, 2003), minimal research has examined the pelagic seabirds that are likely to use the Geographe Marine Park. Geographe Bay is recognised as an important foraging area for threatened soft-plumaged petrel (*Pterodroma mollis*) as well as important pre-migration aggregation area for the migratory flesh-footed shearwater (*Puffinus carniepes*) and migratory wedge-tailed shearwater (*Puffinus pacificus*;

http://www.environment.gov.au/topics/marine/marine-reserves/south-west/geographe).

5.1.3 Sea turtles

Leatherback (*Dermochelys coriacea*) and loggerhead (*Caretta caretta*) turtles are the predominant turtle species found in south-western Australian waters, with both species caught in low numbers but regularly by trawlers, netters and cray fishermen in Geographe Bay (Elscot & Bancroft, 1999; Limbourn & Westera, 2006; Figure 8a). This area is potentially the southernmost foraging ground for these species (Elscot & Bancroft, 1999). Some green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*), a stranding hawksbill turtle (*Eretmochelys imbricata*) and juvenile endemic flatback turtles (*Natator depressus*) have also been found in the region (<u>www.ala.org.au</u>; Elscot & Bancroft, 1999).

5.1.4 Fishes and sharks

Geographe Bay provides important habitat for a number of limited-range endemic fish species as well as commercially and economically valuable species, including important nursery habitat for many shelf species (e.g. dusky whaler sharks use the shallow seagrass habitat as nursery grounds for several years before ranging out over the shelf to adult feeding grounds along the shelf break; DEWR 2006). According to Lawrence et al. (2016), there were 148 species of fish recorded in the Geographe Marine Park using baited camera systems. The fish assemblages of Geographe Bay were unique in their composition in comparison to other assemblages in south-west Australia (Galaiduk et al., 2017). The



composition of the fish assemblages differed between sand, seagrass, and reef/algal habitats. The most abundant species were Western king wrasse (*Coris auricularis*), Footballer sweep (*Neatypus obliquus*), Silverbelly (*Parequula melbournensis*), Rough bullseye (*Pempheris klunzingeri*), trevallies (*Pseudocaranx* spp) and Yellowtail horse mackerel (*Trachurus novaezelandiae*) with majority of these species showing preference for mixed habitat (Lawrence et al., 2016; Figure 8b-d).

A number of flathead (*Platycephalus* spp) and whiting (*Sillago* spp) species were mainly found in bare sand habitat. Southern goatfish (*Upeneichthys vlamingii*) was mainly found in seagrass habitat (Lawrence et al., 2016). A recent study by Galaiduk et al. (in press) found that juveniles and mature adults of iconic fishes targeted by commercial and recreational fisheries are extensively utilising Geographe Bay during their lifecycle. Using spatial modelling techniques, they demonstrated that juvenile individuals of Baldchin groper (*Choerodon rubescens*) and Australasian snapper (*Chrysophrys auratus*), as well as mature adults of West Australian Dhufish (Glaucosoma hebraicum), are closely associated with shallow areas of the bay with high structural complexity habitats. In contrast, juveniles of Dhufish are more likely to be found in deep water areas with high complexity relief (Figure 8e-f). They also predicted the western part of the bay to be a hotspot for the cumulative abundance of these species. Currently, greater Geographe Bay area is considered the southern limit of distribution of WA endemic Baldchin groper (Cure et al., 2015). A number of sharks and rays have been observed inside and near the Geographe Marine Park as well as one species each of octopus, cuttlefish, squid and crab (Figure 9).

The South West Trawl Managed Fishery (SWTMF) which covers Geographe Marine Park, includes two of the state's smaller scallop fishing grounds—Fremantle and north of Geographe Bay (WAFIC, 2015). It is a multi-species fishery including scallops (*Amusium balloti*), western king prawns, mixed whiting species, blue swimmer crabs and other mixed fish. Good scallop landings were taken in 1990 and 2010, but catches are generally low due to variability in recruitment (Sporere et al., 2014). The SWTMF is a gear-based managed fishery with a total of 13 operating licences. This is seen as a comparatively small, low-activity fishery in which effort is related to the abundance of scallops in any given year, which can be highly variable which, in turn, affects its operations from year to year (Kangas & Zeller, 2014).

Recreational fishing is a common activity in coastal waters of Geographe Bay and located primarily in nearshore protected waters outside of the Geographe Marine Park. Some degree of inshore (20 - 250 m depth) recreational fishing activities of demersal (West Australian dhufish and pink snapper) and pelagic fish species are still known to occur within the Marine Park (Fletcher & Santoro, 2018). It is estimated that approximately 23% and <1% of recreational boat-based fishing effort in the entire West Coast Region is associated with the inshore demersal and pelagic fishing respectively (Ryan et al., 2017).





Figure 8: Examples of fauna commonly observed in and around Geographe Marine Park. (a) Loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*); (b) Rough bullseye (*Pempheris klunzingeri*); (c) a school of trevallies from *Pseudocaranx* genus; (d) an endemic Horseshoe leatherjacket (*Meuschenia hippocrepis*, front) and a school of endemic Footballer Sweeps (*Neatypus obliquus*-background); (e) Australian bull ray (*Myliobatis australis*, front) and iconic Australasian snapper (*Chrysophrys auratus*, left); (f) iconic West Australian Dhufish (*Glaucosoma hebraicum*). Images courtesy of the Fish Ecology Lab at Curtin University.





Figure 9: Examples of sharks, rays and other mobile fauna that have been observed within and near the Geographe Marine Park: (a) Tiger shark (*Galeocerdo cuvier*); (b) Mako shark (*Isurus oxyrinchus*); (c) Smooth hammerhead (*Sphyrna zygaena*); (d) Short-tail stingray (*Dasyatis brevicaudata*); (e) Southern fiddler ray (*Trygonorrhina dumerilii*, front) and Shovelnose ray (*Aptychotrema vincentiana*, back); (f) Circular Stingaree (*Urolophus circularis*); (g) Squid (*Loligo* spp.); (h) Curious cuttlefish pair (*Sepia* spp.); (i) Octopus (right) meets fiddler ray. Images courtesy of the Fish Ecology Lab at Curtin University.

5.2 Benthic fauna

Very little research data exist on the abundance and distribution of benthic organisms in Geographe Marine Park, as most studies have targeted the nearshore areas of Geographe Bay. The main groups of invertebrates previously identified throughout Geographe Bay include sponges, ascidians, corals (hard and soft), sea stars, hydroids, bryozoans, gastropods, bivalves and sea urchins (Figure 10). Fourteen species of coral (Veron & Marsh, 1988), one zoanthid, seven species of sea star, one sea urchin, one sea cucumber,

National Environmental Science Programme



An eco-narrative of Geographe Marine Park

twelve species of ascidians, seventy-two sponge species, and two large molluscs – the bivalve, *Pinna bicolo*r and the gastropod, *Campanile symbolicum* have been recorded from Geographe Bay (Barnes et al., 2008). The sea stars, urchin and sea cucumber belonged to the species typically observed in seagrass meadows in temperate Australia (Storrie et al. 2003; Coleman, 2007). The sessile invertebrates could be found attached to seagrasses, in the sediment and attached to hard substrata. A recent study concurred that sponges were more common than all other invertebrate groups and were mostly found on hard, rocky substrates in the offshore regions of the bay, overlapping the south-western region of the Marine Park, and along the north-east coast (Lawrence et al., 2016). Since most of the sponges (> 90%) in previous studies could not be identified to the species level, it is likely that some of them will be unique for Geographe Bay and new species yet to be named by science (Barnes et al., 2008).



Figure 10: Some of diverse benthic fauna that have been observed inside and adjacent to Geographe Marine Park: a-c) High diversity of sponges forming extensive sponge gardens; d,e) corals; f) solitary ascidian *Polycarpa viridis* was the most abundant ascidian recorded in the Geographe Bay area; g) Biscuit sea star (*Tosia australis*); h) Red sea star (*Pentagonaster dubeni*); (i) sea cucumber Stichopus mollis. Images courtesy of Ronen Galaiduk, the Fish Ecology Lab at Curtin University, the South West Catchment Council and Mark Westera.



REFERENCES

Barnes P, Westera M, Kendrick G, Cambridge M (2008) Establishing benchmarks of seagrass communities and water quality in Geographe Bay, Western Australia Project CM01b. University of Western Australia, School of Plant Biology. Final report to the South West Catchments Council.

Beeton RJS, Buxton CD, Cochrane P, Dittman S, Pepperell JG (2015) Commonwealth marine reserves review: report of the expert scientific panel. Canberra

Cai W (2006) Antarctic ozone depletion causes an intensification of the Southern Ocean super-gyre circulation. Geophys Res Lett 33

Chubb CF, Dibden C, Ellard K (1989) Studies on the breeding stock of the western rock lobster, Panulirus cygnus, in relation to stock and recruitment. Fish Dep West Aust FIRTA Proj 85:37

Coleman N (2007) Sea stars-Echinoderms of the Asia/Indo-Pacific: Identification, Biodiversity, zoology. Australia: Neville Coleman; ISBN978-947325-40-4

Council MS (2012) Western Rock Lobster Ecology-The State of Knowledge.

Cure K, Hobbs J-PA, Harvey ES (2015) High recruitment associated with increased sea temperatures towards the southern range edge of a Western Australian endemic reef fish Choerodon rubescens (family Labridae). Environ Biol Fishes 98:1059–1067

DEWR (2006) A Characterisation of the Marine Environment of the South-west Marine Region. Perth WA

Dove D, Bradwell T, Carter G, Cotterill C, Gafeira Goncalves J, Green S, Krabbendam M, Mellett C, Stevenson A, Stewart H (2016) Seabed geomorphology: a two-part classification system.

Dunlop JN, Wooller RD (1990) The breeding seabirds of southwestern Australia: trends in species, populations and colonies. Corella 14:107–112

Elscot S V, Bancroft KP (1999) A review of existing ecological information for the proposed Geographe Bay-Capes-Hardy Inlet marine conservation reserve. Literature Review MRI. CF/GBC-19/1999. December 1998. Marine Conservation Branch, Department of Conservation and Land Management, Fremantle, Western Australia

England PR, Condie S, Feng M, Slawinski D (2009) Modelling connectivity for resilient protected area design among areas for further assessment identified by DEWHA for the development of a Commonwealth MPA Network in the South-west Marine Region.

Fahrner CK, Pattiaratchi CB (1994) The physical oceanography of Geographe Bay, Western Australia. Centre for Water Research, University of Western Australia

Feng M, McPhaden MJ, Xie S-P, Hafner J (2013) La Niña forces unprecedented Leeuwin Current warming in 2011. Sci Rep 3:1277

Fletcher WJ, Santoro K (2018) Status reports of the fisheries and aquatic resources of Western Australia 2016/17: The state of the fisheries. Perth, Australia

Galaiduk R, Halford AR, Radford BT, Moore CH, Harvey ES (2017) Regional-scale environmental drivers of highly endemic temperate fish communities located within a climate change hotspot. Divers Distrib

Galaiduk R, Radford BT, Wilson SK, Harvey ES (2017) Comparing two remote video survey methods for spatial predictions of the distribution and environmental niche suitability of demersal fishes. Sci Rep 7:17633

Gersbach GH, Pattiaratchi CB, Ivey GN, Cresswell GR (1999) Upwelling on the south-west coast of Australia—source of the Capes Current? Cont Shelf Res 19:363–400



Hanson CE, Pattiaratchi CB, Waite AM (2005) Seasonal production regimes off south-western Australia: influence of the Capes and Leeuwin Currents on phytoplankton dynamics. Mar Freshw Res 56:1011–1026

Harris PT, Macmillan-Lawler M, Rupp J, Baker EK (2014) Geomorphology of the oceans. Mar Geol 352:4–24

Heap AD, Harris PT (2008) Geomorphology of the Australian margin and adjacent seafloor. Aust J Earth Sci 55:555–585

Kangas M, Zeller B (2014) Saucer Scallop Amusium balloti. In 'Status of key Australian fish stocks reports 2014'. (Eds M. Flood, I. Stobutzki, J. Andrews, C. Ashby, G. Begg, R. Fletcher, C. Gardner, L. Georgeson, S. Hansen, K. Hartmann, P. Hone, P. Horvat, L. Maloney, B. McDonald). Canberra

Kendrick GA, Aylward MJ, Hegge BJ, Cambridge ML, Hillman K, Wyllie A, Lord DA (2002) Changes in seagrass coverage in Cockburn Sound, Western Australia between 1967 and 1999. Aquat Bot 73:75–87

Kirkman H, Walker DI (1989) Regional studies: Western Australian seagrass.

Lawrence E, Hovey R, Harvey E, Kendrick G, Hayes K, Williams S (2016) Application of NERP Biodiversity Hub survey methodology to Geographe Commonwealth Marine Reserve.

Lenanton RC, Joll L, Jones K (1991) The influence of the Leeuwin Current on coastal fisheries of Western Australia. J R Soc West Aust

Limbourn AJ, Westera MB (2006) A review, gap analysis and assessment of current information relating to marine and coastal environments in the SW region Part A of Project C1-G1: A Coastal and Marine Management Planning Framework for the South West Catchments Council.

Marba N, Duarte CM (2010) Mediterranean warming triggers seagrass (Posidonia oceanica) shoot mortality. Glob Chang Biol 16:2366–2375

McMahon K, Young E, Montgomery S, Cosgrove J, Wilshaw J, Walker DI (1997) Status of a shallow seagrass system, Geographe Bay, south-western Australia. J R Soc West Aust 80:255–262

Niel K Van, Holmes K, Radford B (2009) Seagrass Mapping Geographe Bay 2004 - 2007. Report to the Southwest Catchment Council. School of Earth and Environment The University of Western Australia. School of Earth and Environment The University of Western Australia

Pattiaratchi C (2007) Understanding areas of high productivity within the South-west Marine Region. Rep Natl Ocean Off

Paul MJ, Searle JD (1978) Shoreline Movements Geographe Bay Western Australia. In: Fourth Australian Conference on Coastal and Ocean Engineering, 1978: Managing the Coast; Preprints of Papers. Institution of Engineers, Australia, p 210

Pearce A, Feng M (2013) The rise and fall of the "marine heat wave" off Western Australia during the summer of 2010/2011. J Mar Syst:139–156

Pearce A, Pattiaratchi C (1999) The Capes Current: a summer countercurrent flowing past Cape Leeuwin and Cape Naturaliste, Western Australia. Cont Shelf Res 19:401–420

Roberts CM, McClean CJ, Veron JEN, Hawkins JP, Allen GR, McAllister DE, Mittermeier CG, Schueler FW, Spalding M, Wells F (2002) Marine biodiversity hotspots and conservation priorities for tropical reefs. Science (80-) 295:1280–1284

Ryan K, Hall N, Lai E, Smallwood C, Taylor S, Wise B (2017) Statewide survey of boatbased recreational fishing in Western Australia 2015/16. Fisheries Research Report No. 287, Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development, Western Australia. 205pp. Perth, Australia

Salgado Kent C, Gavrilov A, Recalde-Salas A, Burton C, McCauley R, Marley S (2012) Passive acoustic monitoring of baleen whales in Geographe Bay, Western Australia. In: Proceedings of the Acoustical Society of Australia. Acoustical Society of Australia



Salgado Kent C, Marley S, Bouchet P, Nagy J (2011) A theodolite tracking study of baleen whales in Geographe Bay, Western Australia.

Smale DA, Wernberg T (2013) Extreme climatic event drives range contraction of a habitat-forming species. 280

Sporere E, Kangas M, Koefoed I, Blay N, Oliver R (2014) Abrolhos Islands and Mid West, South West Trawl Managed Fisheries and South Coast Trawl Fishery Status Report. In 'Status Reports of the Fisheries and Aquatic Resources of Western Australia 2013/14: The State of the Fisheries.' (Eds W. J Fletcher and K. S.

Storrie A, Morrison S, Morrison P (2003) Beneath the Busselton Jetty. Landscope Perth

Surman CA, Wooller RD (2003) Comparative foraging ecology of five sympatric terns at a sub-tropical island in the eastern Indian Ocean. J Zool 259:219–230

Veron JJEN, Marsh L (1988) Hermatypic corals of Western Australia. Records and annotated species list. Supplement. Rec West Aust Museum-pages 29 1-136

WAFIC (2015) WAFIC (Western Australian Fishing Industry Council). (2015). 'Abrolhos Island and Midwest, Southwest Trawl Fishery.'

Walker DI, Lukatelich R, McComb AJ (1987) Impacts of proposed developments on the benthic marine communities of Geographe Bay. Rep No Tech Ser

Water Corporation of Western Australia (2003) Integrated Nearshore Marine Monitoring Program for Southern Geographe Bay. WA CCS 2051

Wernberg T, Smale DA, Tuya F, Thomsen MS, Langlois TJ, Bettignies T de, Bennett S, Rousseaux CS (2013) An extreme climatic event alters marine ecosystem structure in a global biodiversity hotspot. Nat Clim Chang 3:78–82



APPENDIX A

Geoscience Australia is currently developing a new seabed geomorphology classification that draws on the Harris et al. (2014) geomorphic map of the world's oceans, and Dove et al. (2016) two-part system for classifying seafloor morphology. This system enables morphological mapping of the seafloor, with extension of the approach to interpretations of seafloor geomorphology where and when data is sufficient for detailed geomorphic interpretation. Table A.1 illustrates examples from the suite of Provinces, Surfaces and Features. Figure A.1 illustrates the semi-hierarchical structure of the scheme.

Table A.1: A sample of the morphological units defined for the seabed mapping scheme (mapping units and their definitions are modified from: Heap & Harris 2008; Harris et al., 2014; Dove et al. 2016: http://nora.nerc.ac.uk/; https://www.iho.int; and https://www.cmecscatalog.org). Figure 4 illustrates the application of the "Surface" class to Geographe Marine Park.



Marine Biodiversity Hub







Figure A.1: *Surfaces* are the building blocks of higher level Provinces and are divided to define Features. For Geographe Marine Park, ridges are a key feature type in terms of providing raised hardground habitat.





www.nespmarine.edu.au

Contact:

Karen Miller Australian Institute of Marine Science

Indian Ocean Marine Research Centre | Crawley, WA, 6009 email | k.miller@aims.gov.au tel | +61 3 6369 4007